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ALCOHOL AND MARIJUANA CONTROL OFFICE 
 

550 West 7th Ave, Suite 1600 
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 Main: 907.269.0350 
 

MEMORANDUM 

TO:        Bob Klein, Chair, and Members of the  
  Alcoholic Beverage Control Board  

 

DATE:  October 15, 2018 

FROM: Erika McConnell, Director 
 

RE:  4969 Fireweed Meadows  

 
 
Requested 
Action: 

License renewal 

  
Statutory 
Authority: 

AS 04.06.090(b):  “The board shall review all applications for licenses made under   
this title and may order the director to issue, renew, revoke, transfer, or suspend 
licenses and permits authorized under this title.” 

  
Staff Rec.: Deny the renewal 
 
 
Background: At the August meeting, the board tabled the renewal of this recreational site license 
and asked the licensee to provide information on his eligibility for a golf course license.  
 

AS 04.11.115. Golf course license. 
(a) A golf course license authorizes the licensee to sell beer and wine on licensed premises 
located on a golf course. 
(b) A license may be issued only if 

(1) an application is approved by the local governing body and the board; 
(2) the applicant does not hold a beverage dispensary license or a restaurant or eating 
place license; this paragraph does not apply to an applicant who holds a beverage 
dispensary license or a restaurant or eating place license if the license was acquired by 
transfer from a licensee under AS 04.11.280. 

(c) The biennial license fee is $400. The license fee and application fee must accompany the 
application for the license. An application must include a drawing of the golf course. A 
sample minimum food menu must accompany the application. 
(d) Food similar to that listed in the sample menu must be available during times when beer 
and wine are sold, served, and consumed on the licensed premises. 
(e) A golf course license may not be transferred or relocated. 
(f) In this section, 

(1) "golf course" means a course, having at least nine holes and covering at least 
2,950 yards, that is open to the public; and 
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(2) "licensed premises" includes buildings located on the golf course or a vending 
cart designed to carry beverages or food located on the golf course. 

 
The licensee provided the attached letter, which states that his golf course is in excess of 3,125 yards. 
In actuality, this nine hole course is 1,555 yards in one direction. Apparently each green has a tee 
box at each end so that the course can be played backwards. If playing in both directions is counted 
in the yardage, the course length would be 3,110 yards. 
 
The licensee did not address what food he serves in his letter, but in discussions with Investigator 
Hamilton, he stated that he serves some food and has a microwave. The golf course license 
requirements state, “A sample minimum food menu must accompany the application” and “Food 
similar to that listed in the sample menu must be available during times when beer and wine are sold, 
served, and consumed on the licensed premises.” 
 
The licensee also owns a seasonal beverage dispensary license (#4747) at the same location. In trying 
to understand the meaning of AS 04.11.115(b), which prohibits the issuance of a golf course license 
to the holder of a beverage dispensary license unless the holder of the BDL acquired it by transfer 
from another licensee, I found the following explanation provided at a hearing of the House Rules 
Committee from staff to Representative Rokeberg, who sponsored legislation to create the golf 
course license in 1998: 
 

SHIRLEY ARMSTRONG, Legislative Assistant to Representative Norman Rokeberg, 
Alaska State Legislature, came before the committee.  She referred to Version R, page 2, line 
20, subsection (2), "A license may be issued only if the applicant does not hold a beverage 
dispensary license or a restaurant or eating place license;" and said the paragraph doesn't 
apply to an applicant who holds a beverage dispensary license or a restaurant or eating place 
license if the license was acquired by transfer from the licensee under AS 04.11.280.  Ms. 
Armstrong stated that means if someone has bought a beer and wine license or a beverage 
dispensary license on the open market, and they currently hold one, if they want to have a 
golf course license and they bought it that way, they can have both.  They don't have to sell 
their license.  She informed the committee that there are two golf courses that have beverage 
dispensary licenses, which are more valuable than a golf course license, and the likelihood 
that they would do that is probably not high.  Ms. Armstrong said, "On the same token, 
people who got their beer and wine license directly from the ABC Board, and the ABC  
Board does issue licenses, if they got one directly from the ABC Board then they have to 
give it back to them in order to get the golf course license and that's what that says.  So the 
distinction is being made from somebody who bought one and if they want to get the golf 
course license, they can go ahead and sell their license and keep the golf course license and 
that's how that works.” 

 
License #4747 was transferred to this licensee from another person and location in 2008. 
 
A golf course does not appear to meet the statutory requirements for a recreational site license: 
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Sec. 04.11.210. Recreational site license. 

(a) The holder of a recreational site license may sell beer and wine at a recreational site 
during and one hour before and after a recreational event that is not a school event, for 
consumption on designated areas at the site. 

(b) The biennial fee for a recreational site license is $800. 

(c) In this section, "recreational site" includes a location where baseball games, car races, 
hockey games, dog sled racing events, or curling matches are regularly held during a season. 

 
While each golfer plays a “game,” a golf course is clearly different from the examples given in AS 
04.11.210(c) of the types of locations and events that qualify for a recreational site license. The 
service of alcohol is not related to an event start and end time but instead relates to the opening and 
closing times of the business. 
 
Representative Rokeberg’s testimony in 1998 before the House Rules Committee on HB 458 to 
create a golf course license included the following: 
 

REPRESENTATIVE ROKEBERG said, "I am prepared to explain the legislation to the 
committee so they understand the bill ... Thank you Mr. Chairman, I have gone through -- 
and the supporting information for the committee substitute for the bill is outlined of the 
rationale behind this legislation.  Number one, this particular legislation would affect only a 
championship style course which is defined in the bill as being at a minimum of nine holes 
and 2,950 yards.  It does not mean a small chip and putt type course or anything else.  I call 
it a championship style course because it has to have at least that minimum yardage, which 
would actually preclude a number of small courses in the state of Alaska right now.  The idea 
here is to encourage the development of golf course licenses as a tourist amenity and as a 
benefit to the recreation activities of a community and help enhance these tourist activities.  
It also streamlines the ability of the ABC Board to issue these licenses by repealing the 
existing municipal golf course license in regulation.  And then it eliminates the use of a 
recreational events type license which is the one -- the type of license used by the Birch 
Ridge Golf Course in Soldotna currently. Some of the complaints about the bill is that this is 
just another way to get a liquor license in the hands of people that sell alcoholic beverages.  
Mr. Chairman, point in fact, the reason I got involved in this bill was because the Palmer 
Municipal Golf Course asked me to work on this.  I'm familiar with the folks up there. They 
have the only municipal golf course license issued in the state.  …  And there is only really 
seven golf courses affected by this legislation currently.  That does not mean to say that 
there couldn't be the development of additional golf courses in the future that could apply 
for this license…” (emphasis added) 

 
 
Attachment: Applicant letter 

Renewal application 
   
   




















